FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
10/19/2021 4:38 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/20/2021

Supreme Court No. 100309-9 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Court of Appeals No. 80685-8-I

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

# PHILLIPS 66 COMPANY dba PHILLIPS 66 COMPANY REFINERY,

Petitioner.

#### PHILLIPS 66 COMPANY'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Timothy J. O'Connell WSBA No. 15372 Mark O. Morgan WSBA No. 52006 STOEL RIVES LLP 600 University Street, Suite 3600 Seattle, WA 98101-3197 (206) 624-0900

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is Phillips 66 Company dba Phillips 66 Company Refinery (Phillips 66 or the Company). Phillips 66 was the defendant in proceedings before an Industrial Appeals Judge (IAJ) of the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals (the Board) and the respondent in proceedings before the Board, the Superior Court of Whatcom County, and the Court of Appeals, Division I.

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISIONS

The published opinion issued by the Court of Appeals on June 28, 2021 and the order issued on September 20, 2021 denying Phillips 66's Motion for Reconsideration in Part and/or Clarification in Part are attached to this petition at App. 1-16 and App. 17, respectively.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Washington Administrative Code Chapter 296-67 sets forth process safety management (PSM) rules for activities involving the use, storage, manufacture, handling, or moving of

highly hazardous chemicals (HHC). The rules were promulgated to prevent or minimize the consequences of catastrophic releases of HHC. They apply to a wide spectrum of industries and facilities, including but not limited to pulp and paper mills, paint and stain factories, hydrogen production plants, fertilizer plants, bulk chemical distribution warehouses, natural gas facilities, and oil refineries, and cover operating procedures, emergency responses, mechanical integrity inspections, and hazard analyses. Each PSM rule has a discrete scope and its own set of requirements.

A business that engages in activities involving HHC installs a fire water system, the purpose of which is to deliver sufficient water to fight potential fires and related emergencies. The system can include such items as water holding tanks, back-up fresh and saltwater sources, underground and above ground piping, hydrants, sprinklers, and water cannons. It holds and transports water; it does not hold or transport HHC.

The first issue presented here is whether a fire water system is subject to Washington's PSM rules covering mechanical integrity inspections, WAC 296-67-037(4), and process hazard analyses, WAC 296-67-017(3). The original federal PSM rules 1 and related state PSM rules have been in effect for decades, yet the Court of Appeals is the first court in the entire United States to conclude that a fire water system is covered by mechanical integrity and process hazard analysis rules aimed at ensuring that HHC stay contained in process equipment. If the answer is "yes" (for either the mechanical integrity rule or the process hazard analysis rule), the second issue is how the rule should be applied. Related to the second issue is the question of whether the Court of Appeals violated long-standing principles of administrative law when, without determining whether the factual findings of the Board were supported by substantial evidence, it reversed the Board's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> 29 U.S.C. § 1910.

decision and remanded the matter for reexamination of Phillips 66's compliance with the mechanical integrity rule.

These questions are of critical importance to the many businesses in this state subject to the PSM rules. Because of the importance of these questions, the Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). Additionally, the Court of Appeals' mechanical integrity rule remand order is flatly contrary to decisions of this Court and published decisions by the Court of Appeals requiring appellate courts to accept factual findings supported by substantial evidence and introduces uncertainty into an area that had heretofore been entirely clear. This issue is critical to practitioners of administrative law, and review should therefore be accepted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Background Facts

Phillips 66 operates a refinery in Ferndale, Washington, where crude oil is refined into gasoline, diesel, and other petroleum products. Process equipment is used in the refining

process and in transferring the hydrocarbon products throughout the refinery for storage, shipment, or additional processing.

The refinery has an extensive fire water system that is physically separate from the process equipment. With the capacity to pump more than 30,000 gallons of water per minute, the fire water system consists primarily of a one-million-gallon water tank, freshwater ponds and Puget Sound access, underground and above ground piping laid out in a grid pattern around the refinery, hydrants, sprinklers, and water cannons. There are back-up pumps, back-up water sources, and multiroute piping segments, which provide redundancy protections. The design ensures that if a section of the piping were to fail, water could be routed in different ways to reach all affected areas; if the water in the million-gallon tank were insufficient, the system could switch to freshwater ponds and, if needed, the Pacific Ocean. The water tank and underground piping are made of carbon steel; catastrophic leaks or other significant failures are

practically impossible because corrosion does not spread in carbon steel. AR 23267-23277.

The refinery's fire water system does not hold or transport any HHC—it contains only water. AR 8. It is not directly connected to any of the equipment used in the refining process. *Id.* Nor is it directly connected to any of the piping used to move the HHC into, out of, and around the refinery. *Id.* It was designed with the expectation that water leaks could occur without having any impact on the system's performance. AR 798.

Each category of equipment within the refinery's fire water system is subject to a rigorous testing and inspection program. For the pumps and piping, there are annual flow tests, and weekly test runs and annual performance tests of the diesel pumps. AR 9663-72, 23283, 23293-94, 23313-14, 23328-32; Exs. 55-58, 66, 67. For the fire water hydrants, there are monthly and annual performance tests, monthly visual inspections, and annual flow tests. AR 9663-72, 23286-88, 23924-59, 23332-33;

Ex. 68. For the portable and fixed fire water cannons, there are monthly inspections and annual flow tests. AR 9663-72, 23289-91; Ex. 69. And for the fire water tank, there are regular external visual inspections and ultrasonic thickness testing to check for corrosion or other problems. AR 23520-26; Exs. 41-43, 53, 54; see also AR 8. The ultrasonic testing provides a much better picture of the condition of a tank than does a visual internal inspection and is a long-standing industry-accepted testing method. AR 23370-71, 23522.

The evidence in the record showed that Phillips 66 developed and implemented a comprehensive inspection and testing program of its fire water system and was always prepared to provide the necessary water to protect its refinery workers and mitigate the consequences of any HHC release.

### **B.** Procedural History

In September 2014, the Department of Labor and Industries (Department) issued Phillips 66 multiple citations, including the only one remaining at issue (the Citation), which

was for (a) failing to conduct inspections and testing of its fire water system in violation of the mechanical integrity rule under WAC 296-67-037(4)(a); (b) failing to follow "recognized and generally accepted good engineering practices" (RAGAGEP) during the inspections and testing of its fire water system under WAC 296-67-037(4)(b); and (c) failing to perform a process hazard analysis on its fire water system under WAC 296-67-017(3)(g). App. 4. Issuance of the citations was not prompted by any accident, release of HHC, or injury to any refinery worker. Rather, it was the result of an inspection conducted five months earlier, during which a Department inspector had observed a leaking hydrant and a small amount of water bubbling from the fire water system's underground piping. App. 3.

Phillips 66 appealed the citations. The dispute went before an IAJ who presided over 13 days of hearings. App. 4. The IAJ heard 31 witnesses testify, admitted 103 exhibits, and accepted extensive post-hearing briefing from the parties. *Id.*; AR 145-70. Notably, at the hearing, Phillips 66 never asserted that its fire

water system was categorically exempt from the PSM rules.

Rather, it argued that the specific PSM rules listed in the Citation did not apply.

In May 2018, the IAJ issued a 28-page Proposed Decision and Order containing extensive factual findings. AR 145-70. Included were findings that the Department had failed to establish that the fire water system was a "process" or "process equipment" subject to the mechanical integrity rule's inspection requirements or the "failure of controls" analysis requirement in the process hazard analysis rule. AR 167-69. The IAJ vacated the citations.

The Department appealed to the Board. After additional briefing and review of the administrative record, the Board issued its Decision and Order (Decision). It affirmed the IAJ's decision with respect to the Citation, noting that it agreed with the IAJ's findings. AR 4. The Board also made factual findings of its own regarding the refinery's fire water system and Phillips 66's testing and inspection program:

- 4. The fire water system at Ferndale is comprised of a water tank and various pumps, hydrants, monitors, and piping. The system holds nonflammable and non-toxic water; it does not contain or connect to any piping that contains hydrocarbons.
- 5. Phillips 66 performs annual, monthly, and weekly testing on various parts of its fire water system at the Ferndale Refinery in accordance with Ferndale's policies. Some of the testing is performed by external contractors.
- 6. The fire water tank was last internally inspected in 1978. At that time, a protective coating was applied to the inside of the tank to help protect against corrosion. The Ferndale inspection department regularly performs external inspections of the fire water tank, including visual inspections and ultrasonic thickness readings.
- 7. The inspections of the fire water system at the Ferndale Refinery follow recognized and generally accepted general engineering practices.<sup>[2]</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Board's reference to "general engineering practices" rather than "good engineering practices" is an obvious typographical error. The Department acknowledged as much in its briefing. *See*, *e.g.*, Appellant's Opening Brief at 39 (referring to "the Board's determination that Phillips 66's inspections of its fire water system followed RAGAGEP"). The Court of Appeals agreed, stating "the Board found ... that the inspections followed recognized and generally accepted good engineering practices." App. 5. Indeed, although this issue was central to Phillips 66's reconsideration motion, the Department still did not dispute that this was a scrivener's error. *See* Answer to Motion for Reconsideration and/or Clarification (Answer) at 3-7.

AR 8 (with original numbering).

The Department again appealed, this time to the Superior Court for Whatcom County. The parties again filed extensive briefing and the court, the Honorable Montoya-Lewis presiding, heard oral argument. The court concluded that the relevant findings by the Board were supported by substantial evidence. Based on those findings, and after concluding the Department had failed to establish that either the mechanical integrity or process hazard analysis rule was applicable to the refinery's fire water system, the court affirmed the Board.

Reversing the Board's Decision and articulating substantively new law applicable to dozens of industries and hundreds of facilities for the first time ever, the Court of Appeals ruled that despite the undisputed absence of any HHC in or connected to the refinery's fire water system, the mechanical integrity and process hazard analysis PSM rules apply to that system. Without assessing whether substantial evidence

supported the Board's findings of fact regarding Phillips 66's inspection and testing program, the Court of Appeals remanded the matter to the Board for a reexamination of Phillips 66's compliance with the mechanical integrity rule. The court also directed the Board to reexamine Phillips 66's compliance with the process hazard analysis rule.

The Court of Appeals denied Phillips 66's subsequent motion for reconsideration in part and/or clarification in part.

# V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Washington's PSM rules apply to "processes" that involve HHC on-site, in one location, and in large quantities. WAC 296-67-001(2)(a)(ii); see also WAC 296-67-005 (defining HHC). A "process" is defined as "any activity involving a highly hazardous chemical including any use, storage, manufacturing, handling, or the on-site movement of such chemicals, or combination of these activities." WAC 296-67-005. Further, "any group of vessels which are interconnected and separate vessels which are located such that a highly hazardous chemical

could be involved in a potential release" are to "be considered a single process." *Id*.

The PSM rules do not apply uniformly to all equipment and operations at facilities that engage in activities involving HHC. Instead, each rule has its own discrete scope and requirements. For example, the prestartup safety review rule, WAC 296-67-033, applies only to new facilities and to facilities that have undergone modifications significant enough to require changes in process safety information.

Each rule codified in WAC 296-67-009 through -061 specifies when it applies and sets forth the applicable requirements. But instead of mandating specific methods or standards an employer must follow to achieve compliance with the requirements, the regulatory framework establishes a "performance-based standard." This means the employer is allowed to develop, consistent with good industry practices, its own methods and standards to address the specified operational and maintenance safety obligations.

Phillips 66 developed and implemented a comprehensive set of performance-based standards to ensure safe and compliant operations. The standards included exhaustive inspection and testing programs for both the equipment and piping used in refining, storing, and moving HHC, as well as the separate fire water system. AR 151, 153, 155-56, 226-35, 436-37, 464. Multiple comprehensive audits ensured consistent implementation of the programs. AR 382-93, 434-35, 1056-57, 2047, 2065. The result of these efforts was that for the year in which the Department inspection was conducted, the refinery had zero spills of HHC and zero lost-time injuries. AR 23821-22.

A. Whether the Court of Appeals Erred in Holding the Fire Water System Is Subject to the Mechanical Integrity Rule Is a Matter of Substantial Public Interest That Should Be Determined by This Court

One of the PSM rules, the mechanical integrity rule, WAC 296-67-037, applies only to "process equipment." WAC 296-67-037(1). Under this rule, the employer is required to establish and implement written procedures to maintain the mechanical

integrity of process equipment and to perform inspections and tests on that equipment. WAC 296-67-037(2), (4). The inspection and testing procedures for process equipment are to follow RAGAGEP (i.e., "recognized and generally accepted good engineering practices"). WAC 296-67-037(4)(b). The purpose of the rule is to keep HHC inside the process equipment and avoid catastrophic releases. AR 2047.

Phillips 66 does not dispute that the mechanical integrity rule applies to the refinery equipment it uses to move, process, and store HHC. Indeed, the Company offered evidence proving, among other things, that it follows industry-accepted American Petroleum Institute codes, standards, and recommended practices, as RAGAGEP, for all process vessels, piping, storage, tanks and other equipment involved in refining, moving, and storing the on-site HHC. AR 767-866, 4664-4739. But the most straightforward analysis, supported by abundant expert

testimony and a rational reading of the existing PSM rules,<sup>3</sup> is that because the vessels, piping, pumps, and other components of the refinery's fire water system (i) contain only plain water, (ii) do not connect to the equipment and piping that contain HHC, (iii) do not control the equipment and piping that contain HHC, (iv) are not necessary to maintain the integrity of the process equipment that contains HHC, (v) cannot release any HHC, and (vi) would not impact normal process operations even if out of service, the fire water system is not a process or process equipment, AR 23360-62, and therefore the mechanical integrity rule does not apply.

To reach its conclusion, the Court of Appeals ignored that the Department never argued to the court that the fire water system itself was a "process," as defined in WAC 296-67-005,<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Department could force the result it seeks herein through the currently ongoing rulemaking to revise the PSM rules. *See* Rulemaking Activity at L&I (wa.gov) (last visited Oct. 18, 2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In the briefs it submitted to the Court of Appeals, the Department argued, *e.g.*, that "fire water is a post-release

and stretched the regulatory definition beyond all reasonable boundaries. App. 8-10. A system of vessels, piping, and pumps that contains only water and is not interconnected with vessels containing HHC cannot reasonably be considered an "activity involving a highly hazardous chemical." Such a system also cannot reasonably be viewed as posing a risk of interfering with mitigation of an HHC release, as the whole purpose of the system is to provide the means to perform such mitigation. It therefore is not surprising that all the experts who testified at the administrative hearing testified that the refining industry does not recognize a fire water system as a "process" or "process See, e.g., AR 23704-08, 23360-62; see also equipment." discussion at 21-22, infra (limited description of the qualifications of the testifying experts).

-

mitigation system," Appellant's Opening Brief at 11, and that the fire water system "is part of the refinery's processes" and "serves as a 'control' for the hazards of those processes," Appellant's Reply Brief at 13. It never argued that the fire water system *itself* was a process.

The Court of Appeals erred when it ruled that the Ferndale refinery's fire water system is a "process" and "process equipment" subject to the mechanical integrity rule. The ruling upends the common understanding of the scope and requirements of that rule. Because this is a matter of substantial public interest, this Court should accept review and reverse.

# B. The Court of Appeals' Remand Decision Conflicts with Decisions of This Court and Other Published Court of Appeals Decisions

The Court of Appeals ordered this case be remanded to the Board for a reexamination whether Phillips 66 complied with the inspection, testing, and RAGAGEP requirements of the mechanical integrity rule. In so doing, the court erred: remand is inappropriate here. Substantial evidence supported the Board's factual findings regarding Phillips 66's inspection and testing program. As discussed below, those findings are conclusive and compel the conclusion that the Department failed to meet its burden of proving Phillips 66 violated the cited rule.

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