FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/20/2021 11:51 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 100309-9

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

PHILLIPS 66 COMPANY dba PHILLIPS 66 COMPANY REFINERY,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

WILLIAM F. HENRY Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 45148 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104-3188 (206) 621-2225

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

IV. ARGUMENT

Phillips 66's arguments do not warrant review. The Court of Appeals' straightforward interpretation of the PSM rules aligns with the rules' purpose, federal and state administrative guidance regarding fire water systems, and the federal courts' interpretation of identical federal regulations. Contrary to

Phillips 66's assertion, the decision articulates no "substantively new law." Pet. 14. Similarly, consistent with this Court's precedent, in the absence of any finding about what RAGAGEP governed the fire water tank's inspection, the Court of Appeals appropriately remanded to the Board to make this determination. Finally, Phillips 66's purported confusion about whether it must evaluate its fire water system in a standalone process hazard analysis (or in conjunction with other analyses) hardly rises to an issue of substantial public interest. This Court should deny review.

A. The Court of Appeals' Analysis of the Mechanical Integrity Regulation's Plain Language Involves No Issue of Substantial Public Interest Meriting Review

The Court of Appeals' commonplace application of well-established statutory principles raises no issue of substantial public interest. As the court correctly held, safety systems like Phillips 66's fire water system are part of a refinery's PSM-covered processes, and the mechanical integrity regulation applies to the components of such systems.

The PSM rules' explicit purpose is "preventing or minimizing the consequences of catastrophic releases of toxic, reactive, flammable, or explosive chemicals." WAC 296-67-001(1) (emphasis added). To accomplish this purpose, L&I adopted a broad definition of what constitutes a "process," bringing "any activity involving a highly hazardous chemical" within the requirements of the PSM rules. WAC 296-67-005. The process definition's use of the terms "any activity" and "involving" show L&I's broad intent. "Any" means "one or some indiscriminately of whatever kind: . . . EVERY."2 "Activity" is "the quality or state of being active: behavior or actions of a particular kind." And "involve" means "to relate closely" or "affect." Thus, the process definition contemplates

² Any, *Merriam-Webster Dictionary*, https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/any (last visited December 7, 2021).

³ Activity, *Merriam-Webster Dictionary*, https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/activity (last visited December 7, 2021).

⁴ Involve, *Merriam-Webster Dictionary*, https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/involve (last visited December 7, 2021).

that a refinery's processes include *every* action that closely relates to or affects a highly hazardous chemical.

Nothing in the Court of Appeals' routine analysis raises any issue of substantial public interest. As the court explained, the functions of Phillips 66's fire water system plainly meet the process definition. The company used the system for many activities involving highly hazardous chemicals, including fighting chemical fires, suppressing acid vapor releases, protecting oil and gas piping during emergencies, and cooling chemical condensers during normal operations. AR 22468-71, 22482-87, 22516-17, 22535-37, 23291, 23401-05. Because these activities "relate closely to" and "affect" the refinery's highly hazardous chemicals, the fire water system's activities meet the definition of a "process."

⁵ Phillips 66 asserts L&I never argued that the fire water system was a process within the meaning of the definition. Pet. 19, 29 n.7. But as L&I has repeatedly explained, it is the fire water system's activities involving highly hazardous chemicals that meet the process definition. The system itself constitutes process equipment used to carry out those activities.

The court likewise correctly held that the fire water system's components constitute "process equipment" subject to the mechanical integrity rule. A "process" includes any activity involving a highly hazardous chemical, and "process equipment" is the equipment used to accomplish these activities. Phillips 66's fire water system includes a large storage tank, extensive piping, and multiple pumps—the specific "process equipment" subject to the regulation. *See* WAC 296-67-037(1). Thus, the company needed to inspect and test this equipment according to the mechanical integrity rule's requirements. WAC 296-67-037(4).

Phillips 66's arguments do not merit this Court's review when the company offers no alternative analysis of the regulatory text. While it attempts to add language to the rule, asserting that process equipment is limited to systems containing or connecting to piping that contains hydrocarbons (Pet. 19-20), courts do not add words to the statute or read in a limitation that does not exist. *City of Seattle v. Fuller*, 177

Wn.2d 263, 269, 271, 300 P.3d 340 (2013). Nothing in the rule's language suggests that process equipment must contain or connect to equipment containing hazardous chemicals. *See* WAC 296-67-005, -037. Rather, under the regulation's plain language, process equipment includes all equipment used for "activit[ies] involving a highly hazardous chemical." WAC 296-67-005.

The mechanical integrity regulation's purpose is not merely "to keep [highly hazardous chemicals] inside the process equipment and avoid catastrophic releases." *Contra* Pet. 18. Instead, as the Court of Appeals recognized, "the integrity of [post-release mitigation systems like a refinery's fire water system] is equally as important to the safety of crude oil refinement as the integrity of the systems that move and refine crude oil." *Phillips 66*, 18 Wn. App. 2d at 68. If the regulation's

drafters wanted to limit process equipment to systems that contain gas and oil, they would have done so.⁶

Contrary to Phillips 66's contention, this is hardly new law. See Pet. 14. The United States Department of Labor, the Occupational Safety and Health Review Commission (OSHRC), and the federal courts have rejected Phillips 66's argument that the mechanical integrity regulation applies only to equipment that contains hazardous chemicals or prevents a release before it happens. In affirming an OSHRC decision, the Fifth Circuit held that process equipment is not limited to equipment containing highly hazardous chemicals or involved in the "containment of chemicals before release," but also

⁶ Phillips 66 argues the testimony of its industry witnesses shows that "process equipment" does not include fire water systems. Pet. 18-20 (citing AR 23360-62, 23704-08). But these statements are merely impermissible legal conclusions offered in the guise of expert opinion. Courts disregard testimony about the scope and meaning of the law. *See Wash*. *State Physicians Ins. Exch. & Ass'n v. Fisons Corp.*, 122 Wn.2d 299, 344, 858 P.2d 1054 (1993). Because the interpretation of a statute is a legal issue that is the province of the court, the Court of Appeals properly ignored this testimony.

includes safety systems designed to mitigate releases after they occur. *Delek Refin., Ltd. v. Occ. Safety & Health Rev. Comm'n*, 845 F.3d 170, 179-80, 182-83 (5th Cir. 2016) (internal quotation omitted).⁷ As the *Delek* court explained, this interpretation furthers the PSM rules' purpose of minimizing the consequences of catastrophic chemical releases. *Id.* at 183.

Both L&I and the Department of Labor have long required that fire water systems comply with the mechanical integrity regulation. Each has issued identical guidelines explaining that "process equipment" subject to the regulation includes "fire protection system components." WAC 296-67-291(9); 29 C.F.R. § 1910.119, App. C at 9. The Department of Labor has issued several interpretations of the federal rule, explaining that PSM-covered processes include post-release mitigation systems designed to limit potential damage

⁷ The Tenth Circuit has likewise held that "the definition of process unambiguously includes vessels which do not contain a highly hazardous chemical." *Scalia v. Wynnewood Refin. Co.*, 978 F.3d 1175, 1182 (10th Cir. 2020).

following a release. OSHA Std. Interp. 1910.119 (U.S. Dep't of Labor Jan. 31, 2008) 2008 WL 2565070, at *3. The Department of Labor's "long-standing position [is] that utility systems *are* part of the PSM-covered process when employers use them to control/prevent *and mitigate* catastrophic releases of [highly hazardous chemicals]". *Id.* (second emphasis added). Thus, any system used for this purpose must be inspected, tested, and maintained in accordance with the PSM rules. *Id.*

Phillips 66's remaining arguments likewise do not rate review. Nonsensically, the company asserts that fire water systems "cannot reasonably be viewed as posing a risk of interfering with mitigation of an HHC release, as the whole purpose of the system is to provide the means to perform such mitigation." Pet. 20. But this only proves the point. If the fire water system were to fail during a catastrophic release, its loss would plainly interfere in mitigating the resulting damage.

Accordingly, as L&I, the Department of Labor, and the federal courts have recognized, refinery owners must test and inspect

such equipment under the mechanical integrity regulation to ensure its proper functioning.

Phillips 66's narrow reading of the mechanical integrity rule puts workers' lives at risk. Under the company's interpretation, refinery owners are subject to no regulation requiring inspection of safety systems designed to mitigate catastrophic releases. *See* Pet. 18-20. Because this strained interpretation runs contrary to the PSM standard's purpose to minimize the consequences of uncontrolled emissions, fires, and explosions, the Court of Appeals properly rejected it. The court's routine analysis, which aligns with longstanding administrative guidance, federal case law, and public policy, raises no issue of substantial public interest.

B. The Court of Appeals' Determination that Meaningful Appellate Review Required Remand Complies with This Court's Precedent

The Court of Appeals' reasonable resolution of this case conflicts with no Washington appellate decision. The court properly remanded to the Board to identify the particular

RAGAGEP applicable to the refinery's fire water tank and assess Phillips 66's compliance with that standard. As the court determined, the Board's conclusory finding that the company's inspections "follow recognized and generally accepted general [sic] engineering practices" did not allow for meaningful appellate review. AR 8; see Phillips 66, 18 Wn. App. 2d at 72. Unsurprisingly, the Court of Appeals could not assess Phillips 66's compliance with a consensus standard when the Board failed to identify what standard applied.

Contrary to Phillips 66's argument, nothing about the court's decision conflicts with this Court's precedent. *See* Pet. 23-25. As the Court has observed, the precise issues that must be determined in findings of fact depend on the circumstances of each case. *Groff v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus.*, 65 Wn.2d 35, 40, 395 P.2d 633 (1964) (citing *Kelley v. Everglades Drainage Dist.*, 319 U.S. 415, 419, 63 S. Ct. 1141, 87 L. Ed. 1485 (1943)). But to enable appellate review, the fact finder must (1) enter findings of fact that resolve the disputed issues of material

fact and (2) apply the law to the facts it has found. *Groff*, 65 Wn.2d at 40.

Here, as the Court of Appeals held, meaningful appellate review required identification of the specific RAGAGEP applicable to the fire water tank. As explained above, the mechanical integrity regulation requires that inspections of a refinery's fire water system follow RAGAGEP, and the company's compliance with the regulation turns on what RAGAGEP applies. In Groff, this Court held that findings of fact are insufficient when "[i]t is impossible to tell upon what underlying facts the court relied and whether proper standards were applied." Id. As the Court explained, such limited findings make appellate review impossible: "We could not pass upon the factual issues in this case on such findings without ourselves making a complete de novo review of the entire record." *Id*.

The same is true here. Whether Phillips 66 complied with the mechanical integrity regulation hinges on the particular RAGAGEP applicable to the refinery's fire water tank. *See*

WAC 296-67-037(4). Phillips 66 does not contest that "RAGAGEP detail generally approved ways to perform specific engineering, inspection or mechanical integrity activities, such as fabricating a vessel, inspecting a storage tank, or servicing a relief valve." OSHA Std. Interp. 1910.119 (U.S. Dep't of Labor June 8, 2015), 2015 WL 3652419, at *1. RAGAGEP are "based on established codes, standards, published technical reports or recommended practices (RP) or similar documents." *Id.* Phillips 66 agreed at hearing that RAGAGEP are the "published guidelines of consensus organizations." AR 22287.

Without a finding on the applicable RAGAGEP (a disputed issue at hearing), the Court of Appeals found it impossible to determine whether Phillips 66 met the standard's requirements. The company appears to argue that the Board's finding that the company tested "various parts" of the fire water system "in accordance with Ferndale's policies" shows compliance with RAGAGEP. Pet. 23; AR 8 (FF 5). But this

only confirms the inadequacy of the Board's findings. The undisputed evidence was that there was no written policy for inspections of the fire water system's water tank. Phillip 66's policy for "Inspection & Testing of Fire and Safety Equipment"—the only refinery policy document relating to the fire water system—contained no information about inspecting the water tank. See Ex 75 (AR 9663-72). Phillips 66 cannot reasonably dispute that a written policy is a necessary element for RAGAGEP. See OSHA Std. Interp. 1910.119, 2015 WL 3652419, at *1 (discussing "use of internal employer documents as RAGAGEP").

And in any event, no witness testified that the company's internal policies constituted appropriate RAGAGEP. *Contra*Pet. 23-24. In support of this assertion, Phillips 66 improperly cites to the discovery depositions of its witnesses, testimony that is not part of the evidentiary record. Pet. 23 (citing 1933-35, 2394-95, 3762-63); *see* AR 171-72. But even if the unpublished depositions were considered, these documents

contain no testimony that the company's internal inspection policies constituted RAGAGEP. There is, of course, a difference between saying that an action meets an internal company policy and saying that such policy is a RAGEGEP.

The Board made no finding that the NFPA 25 is not RAGEGEP for fire water systems. *Contra* Pet. 26-27. While Phillips 66 misleadingly asserts that its witnesses testified that the NFPA 25 was not RAGAGEP for refineries (Pet. 26-27), in fact, these witnesses testified that because, in their view, the fire water system was not process equipment, no RAGAGEP applied to this system. AR 23277-78, 23706-07. In its opinion, the Court of Appeals rejected this premise, holding that the fire water system is process equipment subject to the mechanical integrity regulation. Phillips 66, 18 Wn. App. 2d at 71. And contrary to Phillips 66's assertion (Pet. 27), fire protection expert Sandra Sewell explained that the NFPA 25 is "the industry standard" for inspection, testing, and maintenance of fire water systems. AR 23970.

As the Court of Appeals correctly determined, the Board's conclusory finding that Phillips 66's inspections followed RAGAGEP was insufficient for meaningful appellate review. Because the court's reasonable decision to remand for additional fact finding complies with this Court's precedent, it provides no basis for review.

C. Whether the Refinery's Fire Water System Should Be Evaluated as a "Process" or as a "Control for Covered Processes" Is Not a Matter of Substantial Public Interest

The Court of Appeals' decision regarding the PHA rule raises no issue of substantial public interest. As the court correctly concluded, this rule applies to the fire water system both because the system's activities meet the "process" definition and because the system serves as a control for hazards in the refinery. *Phillips 66*, 18 Wn. App. 2d at 73. Thus, the court concluded that Phillips 66 must evaluate the loss of the system in a process hazard analysis. *Id*.

Phillips 66's professed confusion regarding whether it must evaluate the system in isolation or in conjunction with

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